STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Fairfield County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000826

DAVID ALLEN GOINS,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DESHAWN H. MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 101813

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
AUG 07 2017
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON CERTIORARI

- I. Is there evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce evidence of the victim's reputation for violence?
- II. Is there evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate, identify or call a favorable witness Goins?
- III. Is there evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to request a charge of voluntary manslaughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Respondent David Allen Goins (Goins) is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Fairfield County Clerk of Court. During the July 2005 term, the Fairfield County Grand Jury indicted Goins for assault and battery with intent to kill (2005-GS-20-0347) and murder (2005-GS-20-0348). Michael Hemlepp, Esquire represented Goins. On January 4-7, 2010, Goins proceeded to trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. The jury convicted Goins of murder and acquitted him of assault and battery with intent to kill. Judge Newman sentenced Goins to thirty-five years imprisonment.

Goins filed a timely notice of appeal and an appeal was perfected on Goins behalf by Tristan M. Shaffer, Esquire. Following the submission of a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. State v. Goins, Op. No. 2012-UP-331 (filed May 30, 2012). The Remittitur was issued on June 15, 2012.

Thereafter, on September 10, 2012, Goins filed a timely application for post- conviction relief (PCR). Respondent made its return on June 25, 2013 requesting an evidentiary hearing be held. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 12, 2016 at the Lancaster County Courthouse before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis Jr. Edward W. Miller. Goins was present and represented by Ernest M. Spong III, Esquire. Patrick Schmeckpeper, Esquire, of the South Carolina Office of the Attorney General represented Respondent.

Goins testified on his own behalf at the PCR hearing. Also testifying were: Fleming Anderson and Goins' trial counsel, Michael Hemlepp, Esquire. Following the evidentiary hearing, Judge Dennis granted Goins' application by written order filed December 19, 2016.

Respondent subsequently filed a Motion to Alter or Amend, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCRCP, dated December 29, 2016. In a written order filed February 16, 2017, Judge Dennis denied the Respondent's Motion to Alter or Amend.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari and appendix follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and conclusions of law receive great deference during appellate review. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief decision is whether “**any** evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the lower court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (emphasis added). However, appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. “There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or

omission of counsel was unreasonable. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. “[E]very effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight” and to evaluate counsel’s decisions at the time they were made. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Accordingly, courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s tactics. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

ARGUMENT

In his application for post-conviction relief, Goins alleged his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to take reasonable steps to investigate all avenues of defense and for failing to make timely objections while asserting a proper defense. In granting Goins' application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Goins had met his burden of proof and he was deprived of constitutionally effective assistance of counsel. Furthermore, in granting Goins' application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge concluded that trial counsel was ineffective for: (1) failing to introduce evidence of the victims' reputation for violence; (2) failing to investigate, identify, or call to testify Mr. Fleming Anderson as a witness favorable to the Goins; and (3) failing to request a charge of voluntary manslaughter and to consult with his client on significant trial strategy. Here, the PCR court improperly granted Goins's application for post-conviction relief as there was no evidence of probative value to support the court's findings on any of the three issues.

I. There is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce evidence of the victim's reputation for violence.

In finding that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce evidence of the victim's reputation for violence, the PCR court found there was ample opportunity to get into evidence the violent reputation of both victims and that the failure to do so could have had a significant impact on the outcome of the trial. (App.II.p.718). This finding is without any evidence of probative value. Trial counsel decision not to introduce evidence regarding the victim's reputation for violence was made pursuant to a valid trial strategy. During the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified:

“when you are defending a criminal case . . . when the defendant gives a statement that statement is evidence and you . . . build your defense along that statement. The statement was not that [the Goins] was afraid of the victim, in fact, that he had been with the victim before it happened, but rather that the victim pulled a gun on him and expressly threatened him, and that he had actual fear based upon a weapon and a threat.” (App.II.p.672)

Here, trial counsel articulated his trial strategy was built around a statement that Goins had given to the police after being arrested which indicated that Goins was not afraid of the victim. Where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995). “Counsel’s strategy will be reviewed under ‘an objective standard of reasonableness.’” Huggler v. State, 360 S.C. 627, 633, 602 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2004) (citing Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002)). “Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s trial tactics.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Additionally and more importantly, Goins did not present any admissible evidence regarding the victim’s reputation for violence at the evidentiary hearing. At the hearing, Goins did not testify that the victim had a reputation for violence. Mr. Fleming Anderson, who testified at the evidentiary hearing for Goins, simply testified on questioning prompted by the court, that the victim was a “bad person in the community.” (App.II.p.702.II.5-8). Furthermore, trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he was formerly a prosecutor and he had prosecuted both victims before and they had a terrible criminal reputation in the community. (App.p.670-671). To the extent the PCR court relied on trial counsel’s testimony in ruling, trial counsel would not have been able to testify at trial. Moreover, to the extent the PCR court relied on the video of Goins’ statement to law enforcement it did so in error, where it is apparent from the record that counsel was acting pursuant to a valid trial strategy and also Goins did not present the video at

the evidentiary hearing, therefore failing to meet his burden to prove prejudice. See Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998). Accordingly, there is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's ruling.

II. There is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate, identify or call a favorable witness to the Goins.

In finding that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate, identify, or call to testify Mr. Fleming Anderson as a witness favorable to the Goins, the PCR court found Mr. Anderson's testimony would have directly contradicted the State's case in several significant particulars. The court found he was prepared to contradict the State's theory on issues concerning Goins' possession of the gun and would testified he was with Goins the day of the incident and was certain that Goins did not have a gun in his possession when they arrived at the victims' residence. The PCR court also found he would have disputed the State's theory of motivation, that they were at Michael Robertson's residence not to seek revenge but by an invitation from the Robertson's cousin and to "drink some beers". The PCR court also found he would have testified that Michael Robertson started the argument and was the aggressor. Finally, the court found Mr. Anderson, though a friend of Goins, in the Court's view could have had a substantial impact on the outcome of a trial that depended heavily on the credibility of the witnesses (App.II.p.718). However, the court erred in this ruling because Mr. Anderson's testimony would have simply been cumulative and was practically identical to the other witnesses that testified at trial.

At trial, Christopher Kauffin, Goins' brother testified that he was with Goins that day. Additionally, Kauffin testified that Goins did not have a gun with him nor did he have any bullets. Furthermore, Kauffin testified that he and Goins went over to the victim's house because of a party and that the victim became upset with Goins and pointed a gun at him. (App.p.431-

447). Moreover, when Kauffin was asked on cross-examination if Mr. Anderson was even there at the time of the crime, he testified that Mr. Fleming Anderson was not even there. (App.p.453.II.2-7). Goins also testified in his own defense and his testimony was practically identical to his brother's testimony. (App.I.p.479-App.II.p.515). Here trial counsel called several witnesses who said the same thing that the witness at the PCR hearing said. "We previously have held where evidence produced during PCR proceedings is cumulative to or does not otherwise aid evidence introduced at trial, no prejudice results from counsel's failure to bring it forward." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 459, 710 S.E.2d 60, 66 (2011). Accordingly, there is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's ruling.

III. There is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to request a charge of voluntary manslaughter.

In finding that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a charge of voluntary manslaughter and to consult with his client on significant trial strategy, the PCR court found that a manslaughter charge was appropriate and if requested likely would have been given. (App.II.p.719). Additionally, the court found that even if the decision to not seek a voluntary manslaughter charge was an acceptable trial strategy to maximize Goins' self-defense claims, this court finds that Counsel had a duty to discuss this decision with the Goins and that he did not. (App.II.p.719).

Here, trial counsel testified that this was a tactical decision, and had valid strategic reasons for choosing not to request a voluntary manslaughter charge. Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, "Goins was consistent from the very beginning of this case, from the first statement that he gave he was consistent on the video statement that he gave, he was consistent on his testimony that he was acting in self-defense, and self-defense is an absolute bar to being

criminally liable if we can establish that. If the State cannot disprove self-defense then he is not guilty. I felt like at the time of the trial that the State's lay witnesses were not strong, and frankly, to be honest, I believed my client. I think he did act in self-defense and I think he did – I think it went down exactly the way he described.” (App.II.p.681). A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel does not have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010). No particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). “Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel’s performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

Additionally, trial counsel testified that he did not remember if he discussed the charges with Goins and never said he definitely did not discuss the charges. (App.II.p.682). Accordingly, there is no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court’s ruling.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State requests that this Court grant this petition for a writ of certiorari and reverse the post-conviction relief court's grant of a new trial.