STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Fairfield County  
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

DEC 28 2017

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

DAVID ALLEN GOINS,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000826

\_\_\_\_\_  
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for appellate review of a PCR court's grant of relief is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the PCR court's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989); see also Terry v. State, 394 S.C. 62, 66, 714 S.E.2d 326, 328 (2011); Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 238, 314 S.E.2d 839, 839 (1984)(setting forth the scope of review applicable to the grant of post-conviction relief: "'any evidence' of probative value to support the post-conviction judge's factual findings is sufficient to uphold those findings on appeal"). If any probative evidence exists to support the PCR court's decisions, the ruling *must* be upheld. Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006); Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 348, 495 S.E.2d 768, 769 (1998); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997). The appellate court "will uphold the findings of the PCR judge when there is any evidence of probative value to support them" and "will reverse the PCR judge's decision when it is controlled by an error of law." Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558-559, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007). The reviewing court must give great deference to the PCR court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005). Also, appellate courts must consider that the PCR applicant has the burden of proving his entitlement to relief, but the standard of proof is by a preponderance of the evidence. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. As will be discussed in greater detail infra, extensive evidence in the record supports the PCR court's order granting Respondent relief on *three* instances of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

Petitioner argued "the PCR court improperly granted [Respondent]'s application for post-conviction relief as there was no evidence of probative value to support the court's findings on any of the three issues." Cert. pet. at 6. This argument has no merit as evidenced by the order

demonstrating the court properly analyzed Respondent's claims and the evidence in the trial transcript and PCR hearing transcript. Thus, this Court should deny the petition for certiorari.

#### **RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL**

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Respondent must establish that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694.

All three claims presented involve Respondent's right to the ineffective assistance of trial counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments; thus, the PCR court required

Respondent to establish that counsel's performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional norms, and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

I. There is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce evidence of the victim's reputation for violence.

### **Relevant facts**

Trial counsel was well aware of the deceased's reputation for violence in the community. The deceased "had a terrible criminal reputation in the community." App. 670, l. 24 – App. 671, l. 2. He recalled prosecuting Jamie and Michael Robertson as juveniles and adults. App. 671, ll. 4-8. When Respondent's brother, Christopher Kauffin, testified at the trial, he indicated he was scared following the shooting. App. 440, ll. 7-8. When asked why he was scared, he stated, "I because I know how they is and ---." App. 440, ll. 9-10. The solicitor objected, explaining he did not know what the response meant or who Kauffin was talking about, and requested the response be stricken. App. 440, ll. 11-13. Trial counsel offered no argument to permit the introduction of the testimony. The trial judge sustained the objection. App. 440, l. 14.

Trial counsel admitted he was unsuccessful in introducing this critical evidence at trial. App. 671, ll. 9-12. He opined that "some of the witnesses were scared of the victim's family." App. 670, ll. 1-2. Trial counsel thought getting into a deceased's reputation for violence was "difficult to do anyway." App. 671, ll. 13-14. He considered there to be "a high hurdle to get that in, that reputation evidence in." App. 672, ll. 4-5; App. 672, l. 19.

When law enforcement interrogated Respondent, he explained what happened when the shooting occurred. This interrogation was audio and video recorded. App. 673, ll. 2-5. During

the interrogation, law enforcement talked about the reputation of the Robertsons. App. 327, ll. 10-15; App. 673, ll. 13-14. During the trial, the solicitor stated there was “a good bit of discussion ... about the character and reputation of the Robertson Boys.” App. 327, ll. 10-12. He “certainly [did] not want the jury to hear that” and he did not “think” it would “be admissible under ordinary circumstances because it - - well, I just think it’s not admissible.” App. 327, ll. 12-15. Trial counsel argued “[t]he reputation of the victims” as Respondent “perceived it” was “an element of self-defense.” App. 328, ll. 23-24. Trial counsel clarified the video explained the deceased had “a reputation [for] violence.” App. 329, ll. 4-6.

Although the recording was admitted in its entirety, the portion regarding the deceased’s reputation for violence was not played for the jury. App. 337, ll. 6-12; App. 417, ll. 17-25; App. 554, ll. 1-3; App. 673, ll. 5-17; App. 674, l. 12.<sup>1</sup> Additionally problematic was the judge’s ruling that if a party did not play a portion of the recording during the trial, then the jury would not be at liberty to hear that portion during deliberations despite the admission of the recording in its entirety into evidence: “I will agree with the solicitor that the jury cannot hear evidence for the first time during deliberations. So if it’s something you want them to consider, it has to be presented during the trial.” App. 340, ll. 1-4. At the PCR hearing, trial counsel offered that law enforcement’s statements were hearsay and inadmissible to explain his deficiency in failing to play the portions of the recording to permit the jury to learn of the deceased’s reputation for violence in the community. App. 673, l. 19 – App. 674, l. 3.

During the charge conference at Respondent’s trial, the trial judge asked if part of the self-defense argument would include “a reputation for violence.” App. 552, ll. 11-14. Trial counsel responded that he was making such a request based upon Respondent testifying that he

---

<sup>1</sup> The solicitor played the following portions: 10:15-10:46; 11:29-12:14; and 12:34-12:45. App. 420, ll. 12-18.

was afraid of the deceased. App. 552, ll. 15-18. The judge responded that what was in Respondent's mind was not sufficient to warrant an instruction. App. 552, ll. 19-21. The solicitor argued:

I don't think it's risen anywhere near the level for a reputation for violence as to the two victims in this case for you to give the jury any kind of charge about that. There's just some vague comments about being scared of them. Of course, by the time he made those statements he was running because he had shot them.

And some vague comments on the videotape about the Robertsons in general. But nothing specific about things they had done. Nothing at all specifying any acts of violence they'd committed, just we were scared of them.

App. 553, ll. 1-10. The solicitor explained that of the portions played for the jury, the only reference to Robertson's penchant for violence was Respondent stating on the recording that his uncle said "they always doing stuff to people, I could have been the one dead." App. 554, ll. 1-6. He also explained law enforcement expressed fear for Respondent's safety based on retaliation, but those fears were not due to a reputation for violence. App. 554, ll. 7-11. Trial counsel then clarified, based on questioning from the trial judge, that he was not requesting a charge based on the alleged victim's violent reputation. App. 555, ll. 13-15.

The PCR judge found that trial counsel "testified that evidence of the victims' reputation for violence was important but that it was difficult to find anyone to testify to that and difficult to get that evidence admitted." App. 717. Additionally, the PCR judge found that trial counsel was "personally aware of both victims' history of violence, in that while employed with the Solicitor's office in the past he had prosecuted both victims both as juveniles and as adults." App. 717. The trial transcript showed Petitioner and Christopher Kauffin, both of whom testified at trial, "were knowledgeable of the victims' reputation but no effort was made to include it in their testimony." App. 717. As the PCR judge observed, Kauffin "actually began to testify about the victims' reputation but was prevented from doing so by objection from the state."

App. 717. When the prosecutor interposed the objection, trial counsel “did not oppose the objection” and failed to raise Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE as a basis for exploring the reputations for violence of Michael and Jamie Robertson. App. 717. Judge Dennis concluded, based upon the trial transcript and the PCR testimony that trial counsel was either “unaware” of the evidentiary rule supporting admission of an alleged victim’s reputation for violence or “overlooked it.” App. 717.

Fleming Anderson was present for Respondent’s trial, but did not testify. App. 685, l. 24 – App. 686, l. 4; App. 698, l. 22 – App. 699, l. 19. However, he did testify at the PCR hearing. According to Anderson, he knew Michael for a long time and knew him to be “a bad person in the community.” App. 701, l. 25 – App. 702, l. 8. The PCR judge explained Anderson was “available for the purpose of establishing the victims’ reputation for violence,” but trial counsel inexplicably failed to call him as a witness. App. 718.

Finally, the PCR judge noted the video of Respondent’s statement to law enforcement was admitted into evidence in its entirety and contained statements by law enforcement regarding the alleged victims’ reputation for violence, but those portions were not published to the jury by the solicitor or trial counsel. App. 718. The PCR court found trial counsel’s explanation that law enforcement’s comments were hearsay failed to “adequately explain his failure to publish in so much as it had already been admitted in its entirety.” App. 718. Based upon the lack of evidence produced at the trial, the judge refused to instruct the jury concerning the victim’s reputation for violence. App. 718. The PCR judge found “there was ample opportunity to get into evidence the violent reputation of both victims” and held this failure could have had a significant impact on the outcome of the trial.” App. 718.

## Discussion

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence permit admission of “[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same, or evidence of a character trait of peacefulness of the victim offered by the prosecution in a homicide case to rebut evidence that the victim was the first aggressor.” Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE. Generally, “[e]vidence of a person’s character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion.” Rule 404(a), SCRE. One of the exceptions to this rule is evidence of the character of an alleged victim. Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE. This has long been the rule in South Carolina – even prior to the adoption of the Rules of Evidence. See State v. Boyd, 126 S.C. 300, 119 S.E. 839 (1923)(explaining a defendant has the right to attack the reputation of the prosecuting witness for violence); see also, State v. Thrailkill, 71 S.C. 136, 50 S.E. 551, 553 (1905)(explaining general reputation evidence of the deceased for turbulence is admissible). Whenever “evidence of character or a trait of character of a person is admissible, proof may be made by testimony as to reputation or by testimony in the form of an opinion.” Rule 405(a), SCRE.<sup>2</sup>

The South Carolina Supreme Court explained that evidence of the reputation of the deceased for turbulence and violence “has a direct bearing upon each of the four familiar

---

<sup>2</sup> Furthermore,

In the murder prosecution of one pleading self-defense against an attack by the deceased, evidence of other specific instances of violence on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant or, if directed against others, were so closely connected in point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm.

State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 419-420, 535 S.E.2d 431, 436 (2000); see also State v. Hill, 129 S.C. 166, 123 S.E. 817 (1924).

elements of the [self-defense] plea, but particularly upon the element of a reasonable apprehension of immediately impending danger upon the part of the defendant.” State v. Hill, 129 S.C. 166, 123 S.E. 817 (1924).

As the PCR judge held, the evidentiary rules would have permitted trial counsel to introduce evidence of the deceased’s reputation for violence in the community had trial counsel been aware of the evidentiary rules and made an effort to introduce the evidence. The trial record disclosed that at least one witness was prepared to testify about the deceased’s reputation – Christopher Kauffin – but the testimony was cut short by the solicitor’s objection and trial counsel’s failure to argue any basis for its admission. Additionally, portions of the interrogation recording revealed the deceased’s reputation for violence in the community, but trial counsel failed to publish those portions, which the state had omitted in its presentation, to the jury. At the PCR hearing, Fleming Anderson explained that he was available to testify at Respondent’s trial and would have explained the deceased had a reputation as a bad person in the community. Finally, trial counsel was well aware of the deceased’s reputation as he had prosecuted the deceased on multiple occasions. Trial counsel performed deficiently in failing to present evidence of the deceased’s character to the jury. In light of Respondent’s claim of self-defense and the contradictory witness testimony for the jury, this deficiency was prejudicial to Respondent.

To the extent Petitioner claimed trial counsel’s failure to introduce character evidence of the alleged victim was the result of trial counsel’s strategy to build his defense around Respondent’s statement to police that he was in fear of Michael based upon Michael’s aggression and brandishing of a firearm, this argument must fail. Respondent’s recorded interrogation *included* evidence of the deceased’s reputation in the community. Therefore, had trial counsel

intended to build the defense around Respondent's statement, the defense would have *necessarily* included introduction of evidence of Michael's character. Additionally, a defense centered on Respondent's statement that he feared Michael because Michael pulled out a firearm during a heated argument was *not* incompatible with evidence of Michael's bad reputation. Retreating into the old familiar territory of "trial strategy" cannot save trial counsel's prejudicial deficient performance.

Ample evidence in the record supported the PCR judge's conclusion that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to present readily available character evidence of the deceased in Respondent's homicide trial.<sup>3</sup> The shooting death of Michael by Respondent was undisputed. Thus, the jury was left to determine whether Respondent acted in self-defense. To arrive at this conclusion, the jury had to rely on the testimony of Michael's friends, who witnessed the shooting, and Respondent and his brother, who also witnessed the shooting. Had the jury been aware of Michael's reputation in the community for violence and turbulence, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different, particularly in light of the jury's acquittal of Respondent for shooting of Jamie.

---

<sup>3</sup> Petitioner argued the PCR judge could not rely upon the interrogation recording in arriving at his decision because Respondent "did not present the video at the evidentiary hearing." Cert. pet. at 7-8. According to Petitioner, introducing the interrogation video, which had been introduced at the trial, was necessary in order for Respondent to show prejudice. Cert. pet. at 7-8. This argument must fail. A PCR applicant is not required to introduce all exhibits, motions, orders, etc., that were part of the original trial. The Court's file related to Respondent's conviction, which necessarily included the exhibits, was available for the PCR judge's review.

II. There is evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate, identify or call a favorable witness to the Goins.

**Relevant facts**

Fleming Anderson was present for Respondent's trial pursuant to a subpoena, but was not called as a witness. App. 698, l. 22 – App. 699, l. 19. When Anderson testified at the PCR hearing, he explained he never spoke to trial counsel. App. 699, ll. 20-21. Anderson recalled the day of the shooting. Importantly, he explained that he, Respondent, and others were invited to Michael's home. App. 700, ll. 6-14. Michael began arguing with Respondent over some rims. App. 700, ll. 14-16. The argument escalated. App. 700, ll. 15-16. When Anderson intervened, he heard Michael call out for a gun. App. 700, ll. 17-22; App. 701, ll. 14-19. Respondent and Michael then wrestled over the gun. App. 700, l. 24 – App. 701, l. 3. Anderson was certain the gun originated with the Robertsons and that Respondent did not have a gun on him. App. 700, l. 25 – App. 701, l. 13.

Trial counsel was aware of Anderson prior to Respondent's trial. App. 703, ll. 19-21. He was also aware of Anderson's presence during the trial. App. 703, l. 23. However, counsel was not aware of the reason he did not call Anderson as a witness. App. 703, l. 24 – App. 704, l. 18.

The PCR judge found Anderson “was present all week at the trial, under a subpoena from the state, listed on the state's witness list, and will to testify” on Respondent's behalf. App. 718. Also, the judge concluded Anderson's testimony “would have directly contradicted the state's case in several significant particulars.” App. 718. Anderson would have contradicted the state's claim that Respondent was armed with a gun. App. 718. Anderson “would have disputed the state's theory of motivation, that they were at Michael Robertson's residence not to seek revenge but by an invitation from Robertson's cousin to ‘drink some beers.’” App. 718. Additionally,

Anderson “would have testified that Michael Robertson started the argument and was the aggressor.” App. 718. Judge Dennis rejected any suggestion that Anderson’s testimony would have been cumulative to Kauffin’s testimony. App. 718. In the PCR judge’s view, Anderson “could have had a substantial impact on the outcome of a trial that depended heavily on the credibility of the witnesses.” App. 718. The PCR judge found trial counsel “should have and easily could have located [Anderson], identified the importance of his testimony, and called him to testify.” App. 718.

### **Discussion**

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